IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-657 Lower Tribunal No. 3D99-681

GILBRIDE, HELLER & BROWN, P.A., LAWRENCE HELLER and TIMOTHY HENKEL,

Petitioners,

v.

FLOYD WATKINS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Pamela A. Chamberlin, Esq. Florida Bar Number 444006 Isaac J. Mitrani, Esq. Florida Bar Number 348538 MITRANI, RYNOR, ADAMSKY, MACAULAY & ZORRILLA, P.A. 2200 SunTrust Int'l Center One Southeast Third Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-0050 Michael Nachwalter, Esq. Florida Bar Number 099989 KENNY NACHWALTER SEYMOUR ARNOLD CRITCHLOW & SPECTOR, P.A. 1100 Miami Center 201 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 373-1100

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The respondent Floyd Watkins brought suit against his former attorneys, the petitioners Gilbride, Heller & Brown, P.A., Lawrence Heller and Timothy Henkel (hereinafter collectively referred to as "GHB"). Watkins alleged that GHB committed legal malpractice by advising Watkins to file an allegedly baseless counterclaim against NCNB National Bank of Florida, N.A., in a note collection case filed by NCNB against Watkins.

NCNB sued Watkins to recover on a promissory note. Watkins, through GHB, filed a counterclaim against NCNB on various lender liability theories. [R. vol. XII, p. 2103]. Upon motion by NCNB, and after several hearings on the matter, Watkins' amended counterclaim was dismissed with prejudice by the trial court. [R. vol. I, p. 202]. Watkins, again through GHB, appealed that final judgment to the Third District Court of Appeal, which affirmed. <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u>, 622 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), pet. for review denied, 634 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1994).

Watkins then fired GHB and retained new counsel, attorney Thomas Scott. [R. vol. XIII, p. 2398]. Watkins' new lawyer filed a motion for rehearing or clarification in the Third District. That motion was denied on September 21, 1993, <u>Watkins v.</u> <u>NCNB</u>, 622 So.2d at 1063, and the Third District issued its mandate on October 7, 1993. Watkins, through attorney Scott, filed a notice to invoke the discretionary

jurisdiction of this Court. [R. vol. XIII, p. 2431]. On January 14, 1994, this Court denied that petition and declined to accept jurisdiction. <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u>, 634 So.2d at 629.

Watkins commenced this malpractice case against GHB on January 12, 1996, [R. vol. I, p. 2], more than two years after the Third District denied Watkins' motion for rehearing in the underlying action.

In the malpractice case, Watkins alleges that the counterclaim filed on his behalf by GHB was legally and factually baseless and should never have been filed. [R. vol. I, p. 173]. Watkins does not contend that Judge Ungaro or the Third District erred in dismissing his counterclaim and affirming that dismissal. Rather, Watkins asserts that GHB should have advised him not to file a counterclaim at all, and advised him to pay off the NCNB note immediately. <u>Id</u>.

Following discovery in this case, GHB moved for summary judgment on the ground, inter alia, that Watkins claim was barred by the two-year statute of limitations applicable to professional negligence claims. [R. vol. II, p. 230; vol. XIII, p. 2295]. GHB argued that pursuant to the "bright line" rule announced by this Court in its decision in <u>Silvestrone v. Edell</u>, 721 So.2d 1173 (Fla.1998), the two-year limitation period began to run as of the date of the Third District's denial of rehearing in the <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u> appeal. The trial court, Judge Celeste Muir, agreed, and entered

final summary judgment for GHB on Watkins' negligence claims.¹ [R. vol. XX, pp. 4368, 4370].

Watkins appealed, and a divided panel of the Third District Court of Appeal reversed, with the majority opinion holding that the limitation period began to run only upon this Court's denial of Watkins' petition for discretionary review. <u>Watkins v.</u> <u>Gilbride, Heller & Brown</u>, Case No. 3D99-681, Slip op. (Fla. 3d DCA Mar. 8, 2000). "In light of the recent nature of <u>Silvestrone</u> and the rapid dispute over the bright line rule," the Third District certified the following question:

Where review of a district court decision in an action underlying a legal malpractice claim is sought in the Florida Supreme Court, does the two-year statute of limitations period of section 95.11(4)(a), Florida Statutes, begin to run from the date the decision becomes final by the supreme court's resolution of that review, or does the period run from the date of the district court's mandate?

Id. Slip op. at 9. GHB invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to answer

that certified question. GHB requests that the question be restated as follows:

Where a final judgment in an action underlying a legal malpractice claim is appealed to the district court of appeal, does the two-year statute of limitations period of section 95.11(4)(a), Florida Statutes, begin to run at the expiration

¹ The transcripts of the two hearings before Judge Muir on GHB's motion for summary judgment were not included in the original record on appeal, but are attached to Watkins' second motion to supplement the record below.

of the time for filing a motion for rehearing or the denial of the motion for rehearing by the district court, or at the conclusion of proceedings to obtain discretionary review of the district court's judgment by the Supreme Court?

IV. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

In Silvestrone v. Edell, 721 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1998), this Court announced a bright-line rule to resolve the question of when the statute of limitations begins to run on a litigational malpractice case in which the underlying litigation proceeds to final judgment. That bright line was drawn at the point at which the underlying judgment For cases in which the judgment in the underlying case was becomes "final." appealed, finality was held to occur when the time for filing a motion for rehearing of the judgment on appeal expired, or the date of the denial of such a motion. The Silvestrone definition of finality specifically did not include the time period for seeking discretionary review of the district court's decision. Under the definition of finality set forth in Silvestrone, the judgment against Watkins in the underlying litigation became final when the district court denied his motion for rehearing in Watkins v. NCNB. The two-year statute of limitation began running at that time, and expired four months before the present malpractice action was filed.

A judgment of a district court is final, for malpractice statute of limitation purposes, upon expiration of the time for or denial of any motion for rehearing because at the point at which the district court ceases to have the inherent authority to retract or alter its judgment. Redressable harm has then occurred, triggering the accrual of the malpractice cause of action. Such redressable harm occurs when a judgment is final on appeal, even though the possibility of discretionary review in the Supreme Court exists. That is because, unlike a district court, which has mandatory appeal jurisdiction to review all final judgments of trial courts, the Supreme Court in its discretionary review capacity has no corresponding authority or duty to review final judgments of district courts. A judgment therefore is final when an appeal is complete at the district court level, because at that point the losing party's entitlement to any appeal of right is at an end.

The constitutional framework of the Florida courts and the rules governing appellate procedure support placing the bright line at the conclusion of any review by appeal. The district courts are courts of final appellate jurisdiction. The filing of a notice invoking the discretionary review in this Court does not disturb the finality of the district court's judgment, which may be enforced by a mandate notwithstanding the pendency of review proceedings in this Court. By contrast the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court is narrowly limited by the constitution and is utilized not to correct errors of lower courts for the benefit of individual litigants, but is exercised to ensure uniformity of precedent among the courts of the state and to address issues of statewide importance.

The Third District in this case departs from the <u>Silvestrone</u> bright-line rule by holding that finality did not occur in <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u> until this Court had denied

Watkins' petition for discretionary review. The majority misconstrued this Court's citation of the <u>Chapman v. Garcia</u>, 463 So.2d 528 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), which stated in dicta that a judgment is not final until any petition for review by this Court is resolved. This Court's reference to <u>Chapman</u> for the proposition that redressable harm does not occur until final judgment, does not constitute an implicit adoption of dicta in <u>Chapman</u> to the effect that such finality can only occur following Supreme Court review. Such an interpretation contradicts the plain language of <u>Silvestrone</u>, which places the point of finality at the completion of an appeal.

A losing litigant whose cause of action for malpractice has accrued upon the completion of an appeal has two years from that time in which to sue for malpractice. To extend that time period beyond that point of finality would unfairly expose defendants in malpractice suits to a limitations period beyond the two-years allowed by statute. Certainty and finality are the underlying reasons behind the statutes of limitations. Requiring a malpractice suit to be brought within two years of the completion of an appeal to the district court, provides certainty for clients without sacrificing finality for lawyers potentially exposed to a malpractice action.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The statute of limitations on Watkins' legal malpractice claim began to run on September 21, 1993, the date on which the Third District denied rehearing of its decision adverse to Watkins in <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u>. The two-year limitation period therefore expired on September 21, 1995. Because the present malpractice action was not commenced until January 12, 1996, two years and four months after the denial of rehearing, the action is time-barred, and summary judgment was properly entered in favor of GHB.

A. <u>The Statute of Limitations on Watkins' Legal</u> <u>Malpractice Claim Began to Run Upon the Third</u> <u>District's Denial of Rehearing in Watkins v. NCNB, at</u> <u>Which Point the Judgment Against Watkins Became</u> <u>Final Pursuant to the Bright-Line Rule Announced in</u> <u>Silvestrone v. Edell</u>

In <u>Silvestrone</u>, in order to "provide certainty and reduce litigation over when the

statute of limitation starts to run," the Court announced the following "bright-line rule":

[W]hen a malpractice action is predicated on errors or omissions committed in the course of litigation, and that litigation proceeds to final judgment, the statute of limitations does not commence to run until the litigation is concluded by final judgment. To be specific, we hold that the statute of limitations does not commence to run until the *final judgment becomes final.*²

²/ For instance, a judgment becomes *final*, either

upon the expiration of the time for filing an appeal and postjudgment motions, or, *if an appeal is taken, upon the appeal being affirmed and either the expiration of the time for filing motions for rehearing or a denial of the motions for rehearing.*

Id. at 1175 & n.2 (emphasis added). The Third District majority below did not follow this holding.

The Third District majority held that the statute of limitations on Watkins' malpractice claim did not begin running until this Court denied discretionary review in the underlying case, stating that until that point the requisite finality did not exist. That holding is incorrect. The <u>Silvestrone</u> decision, which purported to draw a bright line rule for *all* cases, did not mention exhaustion of discretionary review proceedings as a prerequisite to finality. The majority of civil cases this Court considers–including <u>Silvestrone</u>–arise on discretionary review rather than direct appeal to this Court. <u>See</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)-(2). Surely if the Court in <u>Silvestrone</u> intended to allow litigants not only to complete any *appeal*, but also to exhaust any possibility of *discretionary review* before finality occurred, it would have said so. <u>See Watkins v.</u> GHB, Slip op. at 12 (Gersten, J., dissenting). It did not. The Court's statement that a judgment becomes final upon affirmance on "appeal" means just that.

Further, while <u>Silvestrone</u> placed finality of appealed judgments at the point of denial of rehearing, it did not do so for cases that end at the trial court level. Instead,

it extended the time for finality of the trial court judgment for thirty days, that is, until the time for taking an appeal had elapsed. In so doing, this Court gave litigants the opportunity to seek relief in the district court.

In contrast, <u>Silvestrone</u> did *not* extend finality of district courts' judgments so that litigants could file a petition for review in this Court. Instead, this Court defined finality of such judgments as the point when the time for filing a motion for rehearing elapsed or the motion for rehearing was denied. If discretionary review was to have an impact on finality for statute of limitations purposes, this Court would have—as it did in cases that end in the trial court—so extended finality as to permit the litigant time to file a petition for review. It did no such thing, however, because the filing of a petition for discretionary review has no impact on finality for statute of limitations purposes.

As such, the judgment against Watkins in the <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u> appeal became final when Watkins' motion for rehearing was denied by the Third District. At that point the statute of limitations on Watkins' malpractice claim against his former attorneys, GHB, began to run. Watkins' subsequent filing of a petition for discretionary review, which was summarily denied by the Court, did not affect or preclude the running of that limitation period. Watkins' malpractice action, filed two years and four months after the judgment became final in <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u>, is thus time-barred.

B. <u>Placing the Bright Line at the Point of Finality at the</u> <u>District Court Level is Consistent with the Constitution</u> <u>and Rules Governing the Appellate Courts in Florida,</u> <u>Pursuant to Which the District Courts are Courts of</u> <u>Final Appellate Jurisdiction</u>

Setting the bright line at the point of completion of the appeal process in the district court was not an arbitrarily selected point. The bright-line rule comports with both the constitutional framework of the Florida courts and the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

A party who loses his appeal in a district court has no *right* to further review by the Florida Supreme Court. Even in the rare case where such review is available within one of the constitutionally-limited categories, this Court still has the discretion to decline to exercise its jurisdiction, and may do so for reasons unrelated the merits of the petitioner's case. Unlike the district courts, the Supreme Court's role is not to correct errors of the lower courts for the benefit of litigants in particular cases. Rather, this Court's role is to ensure uniformity of precedent and to address certain specified areas of statewide significance. Fla. Const. art. V, § 3(b); <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So.2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958); <u>Lake v. Lake</u>, 103 So.2d 639, 642-43 (Fla. 1958), <u>overruled on other grounds, Foley v. Weaver Drugs, Inc.</u>, 177 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1965).

The majority opinion below cites to this Court's decision in <u>The Florida Star v.</u> <u>B.J.F.</u>, 530 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1988), as demonstrating the "vastness" of the Court's discretionary jurisdiction. However, all that <u>Florida Star</u> actually holds is that this Court has broad jurisdiction to determine the limits of its own jurisdiction,² which is quite narrowly circumscribed by the constitution. <u>See Mystan Marine, Inc. v. Harrington</u>, 339 So.2d 200, 201 & n.1 (Fla. 1976);<u>Diamond Berk Ins. Agency, Inc. v. Goldstein</u>, 100 So.2d 420, 420 (Fla. 1958).

Under the constitutional provisions defining the powers of the courts, "[i]t was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts." <u>Ansin</u>, 101 So.2d at 810. Rather than being mere "way stations on the road to the Supreme Court," <u>Lake v. Lake</u>, 103 So.2d at 641-42, the district courts "are courts primarily of *final* appellate jurisdiction." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added); <u>Sanchez v. Wimpey</u>, 409 So.2d 20, 21 (Fla. 1982) (quoting <u>Ansin</u>); <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1357-58 (Fla. 1980) (same). Linking finality to the end of appeal proceedings in the district court is thus consistent with the constitutionally prescribed role of the district courts.

The appellate rules likewise recognize that finality occurs when the time for rehearing on appeal has elapsed. For example, unlike a motion for rehearing, which does delay finality, neither the issuance nor stay of the mandate affects the finality of

² The <u>Florida Star</u> case dealt with the question of exhaustion of discretionary review in the Florida Supreme Court as a prerequisite to obtaining review in the United States Supreme Court. 530 So.2d at 288 & n.3.

the district court's judgment.³ See Eldred v. Reber, 639 So.2d 1086, 1088 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) ("for purposes of determining when the statute of limitations begins to accrue in a litigational malpractice action when the underlying action is appealed, the time begins to accrue when the appellate decision is 'rendered'," not at the later date when the court issues its mandate).

The filing of a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court likewise does not affect the finality of the district court's judgment or preclude the district court from issuing a mandate. <u>State v. McKinnon</u>, 540 So.2d 111, 113 (Fla. 1989), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Roberts</u>, 661 So.2d 821 (Fla. 1995). To the contrary, while the appellate rules formerly provided for an automatic stay of the district court's mandate when discretionary review was sought, that rule was abolished "because it encouraged the filing of frivolous petitions and was regularly abused." Fla. R. App. P. 9.120 Committee Notes to 1977 Amendment.

The concept of finality underlying the <u>Silvestrone</u> bright-line rule thus stems from the framework of the state's court system set forth in the constitution and comports with the appellate rules.

³ It should be noted that in the <u>Watkins v. NCNB</u> appeal *no stay of the district court's mandate* was sought by Watkins, and the mandate issued as a matter of course. Moreover, even if the date of the mandate were the date from which the limitation period began running, Watkins' malpractice claim would still be time-barred.

C. <u>Watkins Sustained Redressable Harm When the Third</u> <u>District Denied His Motion for Rehearing in *Watkins v.* <u>NCNB</u>, Because at the Point the District Court's <u>Inherent Authority to Alter or Amend Its Judgment</u> <u>Ended</u></u>

This Court drew the bright-line rule announced in <u>Silvestrone</u> so that trial courts could avoid the factual determination made in some previous cases⁴ of when an aggrieved client knew or should have known of litigational malpractice committed by his lawyer. <u>See</u> Fla. Stat. § 95.11(4)(a).

<u>Silvestrone</u> resolved that factual issue by holding as a matter of law that a client had not sustained "redressable harm" so long as the court had the "inherent authority" to modify or amend its own ruling prior to final judgment. <u>Silvestrone</u>, 721 So.2d at 1175 (quoting <u>Zakak v. Broida and Napier, P.A.</u>, 545 So.2d 380, 381 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989)). As the court noted in <u>Zakak</u>, the injury to the aggrieved clients in the underlying litigation "did not become a confirmed fact until the entry of final judgment" against them, and thus redressable harm did not exist and the cause of action for attorney malpractice did not accrue until that point. <u>Zakak</u>, 545 So.2d at 381.

⁴ <u>See, e.g., Silvestrone v. Edell</u>, 701 So.2d 90, 91 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), <u>quashed</u>, 721 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1998); <u>Sawyer v. Earle</u>, 541 So.2d 1232, 1234 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <u>Breakers of Ft. Lauderdale, Ltd. v. Cassel</u>, 528 So.2d 985, 986 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

<u>Silvestrone</u> placed the bright line at the point at which the district court denies a motion for rehearing, because that is the point when the court's inherent authority to effect its own judgment is at an end. Until that point the "court retains inherent authority to reconsider and, if deemed appropriate, alter or retract any of its nonfinal rulings prior to entry of the final judgment or order terminating an action." <u>Id</u>. at 1175 (citing <u>Zakak</u>, 545 So.2d at 381). Once that inherent authority has ended, however, the cause of action has clearly accrued and the statute of limitations must thus begin running.

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