IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-657 Lower Tribunal No. 3D99-681

GILBRIDE, HELLER & BROWN, P.A., LAWRENCE HELLER and TIMOTHY HENKEL,

Petitioners,

v.

FLOYD WATKINS,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT FLOYD WATKINS

Franklin L. Zemel, Esq.
Teri L. Di Giulian, Esq.
BEDZOW, KORN, BROWN
MILLER & ZEMEL, P.A.
Attorneys for Floyd Watkins, Respondent
Mailing Address:
P.O. Box 8020
Hallandale Beach, FL 33008-8020
Telephones: Dade 305/935-6888

CERTIFICATE OF FONT SIZE

This brief has been prepared using a 14-point proportionally spaced Times New Roman Font.

I.

Watkins v. NCNB Nat'l Bank, N.A., 622 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)
Watkins v. NCNB Nat'l Bank, N.A., 634 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1994)
Watkins v. Gilbride, Heller & Brown, P.A., Lawrence Heller and Timothy Henkel, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D560 (Fla. 3d DCA Mar. 8, 2000) 2, 13, 20
Wilson v. Clark, 414 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)
Zakak v. Broida & Napier, P.A., 545 So.2d 380 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989)
Other Authorities
1 Fla.Jur.2d, Actions, §§35 (1977)
§95.031(1)
§95.11(4)

V. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE BELOW</u>

This professional malpractice claim arises out of the underlying litigation styled as *Watkins v. NCNB Nat'l Bank, N.A.*, 622 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993).

Following the issuance of *Watkins v. NCNB*, Watkins timely filed an authorized Petition for Certiorari Review which was denied by the Florida Supreme Court on January 14, 1994. *See Watkins v. NCNB Nat'l Bank, N.A.*, 634 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1994).

This professional malpractice action was filed on January 12, 1996, less than two years from the date of the completion of all appellate remedies, including the denial of certiorari review.

The undersigned was substituted as Watkins' counsel in 1998, after which the Petitioners' depositions were taken, and thereupon a Second Amended Complaint was filed on August 26, 1998. In response to the Second Amended Complaint, the Petitioners raised approximately thirty-five (35) affirmative defenses, chief of which, and relevant to this appeal, is the defense of statute of limitations. All parties filed motions and cross-motions directed to the statute of limitations defense.

The trial court granted the Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment on the sole and specific finding that Watkins' professional malpractice claim was not timely filed and therefore was time-barred. The trial court held that the two-year statute of limitations begins to run from the date of the District Court of Appeal opinion

irrespective of the filing of a timely and authorized Petition for Certiorari Review and, apparently, irrespective of the result.

A Motion for Clarification/Re-hearing was timely served. The trial court granted the motion to the extent that the Final Judgment was clarified as being "final" only as to Heller and Henkel because one Count against GHB remained intact relating to release of monies held in escrow when Watkins "bonded" off a purported retaining lien. GHB has since voluntarily dismissed any purported claim for unpaid attorneys fees. R. 2449.

An appeal was taken by Watkins which was granted by the Third District Court of Appeal on March 8, 2000 in *Watkins v. Gilbride, Heller & Brown, P.A., Lawrence Heller and Timothy Henkel,* 25 Fla. L. Weekly D560 (Fla. 3d DCA Mar. 8, 2000), in which the Third District Court of Appeal *reversed* the trial court and remanded for further proceedings.

This appeal was thereafter sought by GHB pursuant to its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction dated March 16, 2000.

Brief Summary of Underlying Professional Malpractice Claim

Watkins insists that his former counsel, GHB, induced him to proceed with what they called a "slam dunk" lawsuit against NCNB National Bank at a cost of

approximately \$140,000 in fees, for a case which was *fatally* flawed from the beginning, both on the facts and as a matter of law. GHB has since conceded that there was no "controlling" case law which supported Watkins' claims and further, that based on the facts of the case, Watkins had no chance of success. R. 1399, at p. 166. Indeed, Henkel testified that GHB's advice to proceed with Watkins' claims would have "totally changed" had it known that Watkins had purchased "insider units" rather than "second phase units," as more particularly described below and in *Watkins v*. *NCNB*. R. 1570, at p. 335.²

However, as shown from GHB's pleadings which GHB drafted and filed on Watkins' behalf, GHB *always knew* that Watkins purchased the three "insider units" and NOT the "second phase units." R. 251, 278, at 291; 308, at 323. Alarmingly, GHB admits that it had premised Watkins' entire case on the theory that Watkins was sold "second phase units," when it knew to the contrary! R. 1433-34, at pp. 200-01. Henkel testified that:

[&]quot;Insider units" refers to the sale of units in the partnership which were RE-SALES of previously "sold" units to the General Partners of the partnership (for which the insider never had paid for in the first place, in order to unlawfully create the false appearance of a successful securities closing, *i.e.* that the purported minimum number of units required to break escrow had been sold). "Second phase" units means previously UNSOLD units which could only have been sold had the escrow been handled according to the escrow agreement and S.E.C. Rule 10(b)-9.

	we were premising our
23	legal opinion on those previously unsubscribed
24	units, that that brought him within the second
25	phase of offering and that's what made him a
1	foreseeable and intended beneficiary based on the
2	legal authority.
3	And the position that we could argue
4	would make him the recipient of a duty by the
5	bank.
6	Now, if he wasn't, if he was simply a
7	saaandam niiyahasan aftarmarkat niiyahasan in a
/	secondary purchaser, aftermarket purchaser in a
8	securities field, evolved from an existing
8	securities field, evolved from an existing
8 9	securities field, evolved from an existing investor, that would have changed my legal advice
8 9 10	securities field, evolved from an existing investor, that would have changed my legal advice because the bank would have not known. They would
8 9 10 11	securities field, evolved from an existing investor, that would have changed my legal advice because the bank would have not known. They would have known that the units would have been sold to
8 9 10 11 12	securities field, evolved from an existing investor, that would have changed my legal advice because the bank would have not known. They would have known that the units would have been sold to other people, or could have been, even though
8 9 10 11 12 13	securities field, evolved from an existing investor, that would have changed my legal advice because the bank would have not known. They would have known that the units would have been sold to other people, or could have been, even though there were restrictions on transfer, but the fact
8 9 10 11 12 13 14	securities field, evolved from an existing investor, that would have changed my legal advice because the bank would have not known. They would have known that the units would have been sold to other people, or could have been, even though there were restrictions on transfer, but the fact that he was in that initial second phase was a key

Key to this issue is that GHB knew that Watkins was not in that "second phase," as demonstrated by simply reviewing the pleadings which GHB filed on behalf of Watkins, as well other documents which GHB admits it filed. Specifically, in his "White Book" which GHB admits that it had prior to undertaking his representation, Watkins stated:

The "White Book," as it later came to be known, was a compilation of documents, excerpted transcriptions of discussions with witnesses and many other documents prepared by Watkins which became the road map for unraveling the huge securities fraud of which Watkins was just one of many victims.

When Mr. Watkins signed the note with NCNB Bank (exhibit H) <u>Mr. Watkins believed</u> he was buying one unit valued at \$100,000.00 from Ron's father, Raymond Molina. Later he discovered that Mr. Raymond Molina never owned one unit. His maximum participation in the partnership at any given time totaled one half of a unit, or \$50,000.00 (exhibit I & __). <u>Mr. Watkins further believed</u>, that he was buying the last two remaining units from the partnership making a total of 21.5 units sold.

Mr. Ron Molina said that he had taken Mr. Watkins's \$300,000.00 and used it to pay off the Molina family's Limited Partner Notes. Mr. Ron Molina said he decided to sell Mr. Watkins one half of a unit (\$50,000.00) which he owned, one unit (i.e. \$100,000.000) which his company Financial Capital of America owned one unit (i.e. \$100,000.000) which his brother, Gerald Molina, owned, and one half of a unit which his father, Raymond Molina, owned. *This was done without Mr. Watkins's knowledge*.

R. Vol. XI, pp. 1927-28. In addition, both Henkel and Heller testified that they reviewed the White Book prior to asserting any claims on Watkins' behalf. R. Vol. VIII, pp. 1234-1557, deposition pp. 155-62; R. Vol. IX, pp. 1626-1708, deposition pp. 42-43, 48-49.

Even GHB's pleadings which GHB drafted and filed on Watkins' behalf, alleged that Watkins was sold the "insider units" and was not in the second phase." R. 251, 278, 291, 308, 323.

Historical Background

The salient facts relative to the narrow issue on this appeal are brief and relatively undisputed. The historic background of the underlying litigation which appears below is <u>quoted</u> substantially from the Third District Court of Appeal's Opinion in *Watkins v. NCNB*, 622 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993).

Watkins appealed from a final judgment striking his affirmative defenses and dismissing his counterclaims in an action by NCNB National Bank of Florida, N.A. ("NCNB") on a promissory note for a loan used by Watkins to purchase units in a limited partnership, known as Silver Pines, Ltd.

In December 1987, the general partners of Silver Pines contacted Watkins regarding the sale of partnership units in a limited partnership formed to purchase, manage, and resell a shopping center. After inspecting the shopping center and a placement memorandum which was used to market the sale of the units, Watkins

decided to purchase three units in the partnership.⁴ NCNB loaned Watkins \$276,000 secured by a promissory note in connection with the purchase of the partnership units.

The placement memorandum specified that if fourteen (14) units were not sold by July 1, 1986, the monies would be refunded to the initial investors unless the deadline was extended by the general partners to on or before September 30, 1986. If the fourteen (14) units were sold before the closing date, (i.e. the "first phase") the offering would continue until twenty-one and one-half (21.5) units were sold (i.e. the "second phase"). Thus, the partnership units would be offered during two phases. NCNB as an escrow agent agreed to hold in escrow the subscription proceeds and the promissory notes from first phase investors and refund the monies to the first phase investors if fourteen partnership units were not sold before the closing date. NCNB allegedly wrongfully terminated the escrow and disbursed the subscription money and

Although not relevant to the court's opinion at the time that it was written, and as noted above, Watkins thought that he was buying one "insider" unit and the "last two" remaining units of the offering, but that he was sold three "insider units." R. 251, 278, at 291; R, 251; 308, at 323. This was a significant issue for Watkins for two main reasons. One, Watkins had been advised (and which presumably was independently verified by his broker), that all but the last two units had been sold in the original offering. This would have meant that there should have been \$1.9mm in Partnership Capital (i.e. 19 units x \$100,000 ea.). In reality, there had only been 8 ½ units actually sold for approximately \$850,000 in Partnership Capital, less Partnership fees and other expenses which reduced the Partnership Capital to the fatally anemic amount of less than \$600,000. Two, Watkins would not have invested in Silver Pines had he known that the "insiders" were abandoning the investment.

promissory notes to Silver Pines on or about October 1986 notwithstanding the fact that the minimum number of units had not been sold.

NCNB sued Watkins on the promissory note. Watkins counterclaimed and asserted several affirmative defenses. The counterclaims and affirmative defenses alleged fraudulent inducement, negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, estoppel, unclean hands, and cancellation of the promissory note. The trial court granted NCNB's motion to dismiss the counterclaims and strike the affirmative defenses.

The Third District Court of Appeal further held that the "trial court properly dismissed the counterclaims and affirmative defenses as NCNB owed no fiduciary or common law duty to disclose to Watkins that the Silver Pines offering closed on October 1986 without the minimum number of units having been sold." *Watkins*, 622 So. 2d at 1064.

"... THE REST OF THE STORY"

As alluded to above, the matter in dispute in this litigation is the story behind the *Watkins v. NCNB* debacle.

In May 1990, Watkins was referred to GHB by his friend, Tom Tew, relative to the dispute with NCNB National Bank of Florida. R. 424-25, at pp. 60-61.

GHB agreed to represent Watkins in the NCNB dispute, as well as a number of other matters all arising out of the same securities fraud. Watkins claims that GHB repeatedly advised him that he had a "slam dunk" lawsuit against NCNB, and that based upon such repeated assertions, Watkins was induced to pay GHB in excess of \$140,000 to pursue the matter with NCNB. R. 420, at p. 56. Not surprisingly, GHB denies ever rendering such advice to Watkins. GHB, however, admits that "throughout" the litigation, Watkins repeatedly inquired about his "percentages." Henkel maintains that when asked by Watkins about his "percentages," the Firm would only advise him generally that litigation is "inherently risky," but that his case had "merit" and was "worthy of presentation." Nevertheless, the result was the same - NCNB's Motion to Dismiss was granted and all of Watkins' claims were thereby dismissed, with prejudice and adverse summary judgment was entered against Watkins

GHB (through the testimony of Henkel,) testified that "merit" means "worthy of presentation." When asked what "worthy of presentation" meant, Henkel testified that it means that the case had "merit." R. 1496-98, at pp. 263-65. One is left with a sense of frustration as to exactly what GHB's advice was and whether they satisfied their duty to render a candid opinion relative to the merits of the claim and its probable outcome. *See McNealy v. State*, 183 So. 2d 738 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) (holding that an attorney is obligated to render to his client a candid opinion of the merits and probable results of pending or contemplated litigation).

for the unpaid balance of the Promissory Note, plus default rate interest and NCNB's legal fees and costs.

An appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal of the dismissal was thereafter filed by GHB. On August 3, 1993 (Rehearing Denied on September 21, 1993), this Court rendered its Opinion affirming the dismissal in *Watkins v. NCNB*. A timely and authorized Petition for Certiorari was thereafter filed in this Court by Watkins' new counsel, Tom Scott, which was denied on January 14, 1994. *See Watkins v. NCNB Nat'l Bank, N.A.*, 634 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1994). Less than two years later, on January 12, 1996, Watkins initiated the underlying litigation.

VI. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

In *Silvestrone v. Edell*, 721 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1998), this Court stated that a "malpractice claim is hypothetical and damages are speculative until the underlying action is concluded with an adverse outcome to the client." *Silvestrone* at 1173. Further, this Court stated that:

[S]ince redressable harm is not established until final judgment is rendered, see *Chapman v. Garcia*, 463 So. 2d 528, 529 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985)(holding that plaintiffs could not sue attorneys for legal malpractice so long as underlying medical malpractice action, out of which legal malpractice claim arose, was still pending in trial court or on appeal); *Abbott v. Friedsam*, 682 So. 2d 597, 600 n. 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)(stating in dicta that statute of limitations for legal

malpractice generally does not begin to run until legal proceedings underlying malpractice claim have been finalized, by appeal if necessary), a malpractice claim is hypothetical and damages are speculative until the underlying action is concluded with an adverse outcome to the client.

Id.

The holding of *Silvestrone* altered the analysis of when the statute of limitations in a litigational context begins to run from the "knew or should have known" standard, to the "redressable harm" standard. This Court's analysis recognized that so long as the matter is not final and not concluded, a malpractice claim is merely hypothetical and damages are speculative.

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